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 DETECTIVE GORDONS
' OPENING: REMARKS.

N presenting the foflowing facts to the public, I make
no excuse, as 1 think none is needed for clearing up
397 a number of mysteries and letting the light of truth
shine upon some of the most atrocions murders that were
ever committed_in the cities of New York, New Orleans and
elsewhere, which for boldness, brutality, and cunning are
without a parallel in the histdry of crime. Kor years they
have been completely enshrouded in darkness.

T had been out in the vicinity of the Modoe country,
thbugh not in the service of Uncle Sam. Many years I
have spent upon the plains and mountains of the far West;
‘however it is not my own, but another’s history I propose to
give, as well as how that history came inte my possession,‘
which was as follows. \

The second day after ’ghe terrible slaughter of the United
States troops by the Modocs I was making a reconuoissance on
my own hook and alone, in the neighborhood and to some

extent among the Lava Beds,

Having been over the ground many and man, a time, I
\ 19 ‘
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knew every nook and corner. After wandering around for
several hours, without finding much of interest, and begin-
ning to feel weary and hungry, I sought out and entered a
cave to rest and refresh the inner man with that which
every mountaineer carries in his bag-—jerked venison, buffalo
meat and hard tack. The cave 1 songht among the rocks
was one I thought known to none but myself What was
my surprise on entering it to see an Indian——as I at first
supposed—ifast asleep. On examination I found hé was not
only dead, but not an Indian at all, but a white man of the
pure Anglo-Saxon race, yet he was tp all intents and pur-
poses an Indian so far as costume and paint could make him.
His hody was literally torn to pieces; both hands and arms
were gone, and looked as if they had been torn out at the
shoulder, from which the muscles, nerves and flesh hung in
shreds. All the right side of the head and face were gone.
On lifting the blanket that covered him, a terrible sight met
my view. His breast was torn open, and his heart was
protruding  from the Wound The eyes in their ghastliness

wore staring wide open in all it was the most sickening

eizht 1 ever beheld, and 1 pray mever to look upon the ‘

like again.

That he had been carried and laid there after death was

very evident, as he could not possibly have reached the
cave, after receiving such wounds, by himself, nor could he
have received them where he lay when I found him.

Seeing be was a white man, my curiosity was excited to

know, if possible, who he was, and why he was there in

the guise of an Indian. After some debate with myself I
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concluded to'make a minunte search of the body, disagreeable
and disgusting as the job was. I did it, and was rewarded
by finding the following

; Ld}XIJIJEKSI%IIyI‘

- AND
CLUBE TO THEE MYS’I‘ZEIR'Y.

It was encased in a buckskin pocket, and stitched fast to his
Indian shirt, and so fastened as to remain firmly under the
left arm. The following is the manuscript as it came into
iny possession.

Trusting that many may breathe frcer now that such a
villain is wiped out, I am with much respect -

Yours truly,

JAS. P. GORDON.
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: Who the white Indian was—His parcntage—»ﬂhildhood«-—!{is home on Center
Bireet, New York—Murder of his mother—Separation of the family—His
first step in erime—Mnrder of Mr, Miller of Cinclnnati—Bank robbery
-— Kills 2 Pollceman—Leaves New York-—Goes to Albany—Learns a
trade—Gets marricd—~0Oets into trouble—Kills his wife—Goes to Canada
-—in Buffalo—Marrics again—In the Steamboat buslness-—ﬂinks her—
Oruelfy to his wife—Leaves her ingane.

A Y true name is Anson Bunker. But I have passed by

- 50 many different names that I sometimes almost for-

> get what my right name is.  And now as I write these
pages, in what I feel to be the last few months of my

‘life, for 1 feel a presentiment that before the conflict that is
now pending between the Indians and the United States
Government is over, I shall be numbered with the dead, and
stand face to face with my victims before the Judge of the
. Universe. The presentiment is so heavy upon me I cannot
shake it off, and as the shades that fall from that mknown
land beyond the vista of time gather darker and denser.
about me, my heart thvobs and trembles until I wish it
would cease to beat, and thereby silence the groans of my
victims and the many hideous jeers of the fiends that are
now, and I fear will be forever sounding in my ears. Iam.
impelled to write this history, and leave it behind me whether

I will or no; and as it is written many years after some of
- 22 - :
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the incidents and crimes were committed, I have forgotten

miany of the dates, but I give them as best my memory serves

“me. When I have finished this, I start out on an expedition -

to the Indians, from which something tells me T shall never
yeturn alive. I will not spare myself, but will give all as L

_can remember it, just as it occurred. As Isaid my true name

is Anson Bunker.- I was born in Néw York city, March 8th,
1818, on Center street, I think but am not sure at number
90. Was raised so to speak until I was 19 years of age,
xight in the heart of the Five Points, then in its palmiest days,
and was trained to the mysteries ‘of crime in that localit'y. -
T had three sisters and one brother, or at least I had onge,
but for years I have held no communication with any of ny
family. Two of my sisters went to the bad, and no doubt
iong years ago were laid in dishonored pauper graves. The |
‘saddest moment of my life is when T think of them and their
hapless lot, forced upon them whether they would or no, by a
father’s hand. My youngest sister and brother—who was a
babe of five months old at the death of our mother—were
taken away by the Sisters of Charlty, and we never heard of
them again. )
My mother was a good Chrlstlan woman. But my father
was a drankard, a thief and a murderer. I call him & mur-
derer for he killed my mother by cruel treatment. I saw

' him strike her; she foll and never spoke again. . I was fright-

ened and screamed. When the neighbors came my father said
shother had fallen off her chair;'and struck her head against
the stove and so hurt herself. But T felt and knew. that'my‘
father hiad committed murder, for from that blow she never
tecovered. Buf T being only eight years old, and no other
‘witnesses present, he escaped the'gd}'ldws to die at last irrthe
State Prison at Sing Sing, N. Y., to which place he was ‘sen-
tenced for ten years for burglary
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Two of my sisters were older than myself. One was ten,
almost eleven, the other in her thirteenth year at the
death of our mother. In less than three years after our
mother’s death our father was sent to the State’s prison ; my

 sisters, were street-walkers.” (Many may think this im-
possible as they were both so young; all I have tolsa,y is,
go among the haunts of vice in r;my of our large cities to-day,
and you will find many just as young on the downward road
to ruin.) -And thus were my poor sisters at this tender age, |
and I, still younger, an accomplished thicf.

When my mother died I had never been guilty of a erime,
but from that time forth my downward course was very fast,
and by the time I was sixteen I had been - guiity of petty
larceny times out of number, and had been engaged in.five
most daring robberies, and had helped to kill two men. The
first man I helped to kill was a Mr. Miller, from Cincinnati,
Ohio, & merchant (a fact we learned from papers in his
pocket) ; he had come East to buy goods. This was in April,
the spring I was sixteen. years old. . In walking about the
city one Sunday afterndon, he had, accidentally or purposely,
wandered into the Five Points; he came into one of the dens
and sink-holes of crime, that abounded in that locality at
that time, which in outward appearance was a respectable

.saloon, but woe to the hapless man or woman who came in

there with any, money ; they never went out again, dead or
. alive.

Mr. Miller . called for a glass of ale, which he- drank,
and in paying for it he exposed his money, and sealed his
doom. He was disposed of in the following manner: One of
the boys threw a handful of flour into his face, we then
caught him, dragged him to a trap-door; one of the party
slipped the bolt, and in less than a jiffy we were all in the
cellar 9nd the trap-door back to its place. Mr. Miller begged
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piteously for his life, offering us all the money he had with
him, and promising to send more to any address we might
name ; he pleaded for the sake of his wife and children in the

West. I was but young, and my heart was touched at sight

of his agony, and would have taken his offer and let him go;
but my companions, who were older, called me & baby, and
while four of them held him, made me cut his throat. As
I cut the jugular vein the blood spurted into my face and
deluged me with gore; we held him until he was dead, then

- searched him and got but a few dollars. There l.the cellar

we dug a hole, volled him in, and in less than one hour all .
trace of it was removed, except every once in a while I ¢could

‘feel the blood spurt into my face; it was but fancy, yet it
-seemed 8o real it made me shudder, and it was years before
- T could forget it, in fact, I never fully forgot it, and to this

day, hardened eriminal as I am, I can feel that blood fly into
my face. : : q
Two days after this, myself and two comrades robbed the

: Merchants and Mechanics' Bank, in New York ; we had the

jobin contemplatlon for some time before we did it, and to
accomphsh it, at that day and time when the art of robbery
and murder ‘was in the rough to what it is t-day, was no
easy task, thongh we had as our leader and teacher an ac-
cofnp]ished English thief, known as “English Bill.” Our
plan for robbing the bank was this: One of our party applied

. for and obtained the position of porter, they having adver- -

tised for one, and we were always on the watch for such

. chances. -

When our” ¢ pal” got fairly to work in the bank, he got
the impression of all the keys necessary for us to enter the _

- bauk, as ‘well as of the safe-lock (safes then were not as

perfect as ‘they are to-day); so when all was ready, we un-
locked the doors, walked in and helped ourselves to a large
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sum of money,'locked all things up, and departed for our
den. Here we buried the money for a short time in the cellar;
the money being mostly gold and silver, we could use it with
impunity. - ¢

Of this sum I gave most'to my eldest sister, to start

business for herself, and the last I knew of her and the - ]

other oné with her, they were keeping a noted fancy house
on the Bowery and near the Bowery Theatre. Great was the
mystery of how that robbery had been accomplished. Dozens
of theori. were set forth, but never the right one. TIna
+ few days after the robbery our “pal,” the porter; was taken
- very sick, so that he could not go to the bank; when he gos
able to work again, his place was filled, which was all very

fortunate for him, and I do not think he was ever suspected ,

by any of the officers in the bank.
About two weeks after the bank robbei-y, one of our gang
- was detected in an attempt to rob a boarding house; he escaped

at the time, but in a few days he was “spotted,” and ‘the

police undertook to arrest him at the corner of Canal street
and Broadway ; in the mélée I stabbed the pohceman to the
heart.

‘1 dropped the knif‘e, and halloced “murder, some-
body has stabbed this man!” at the same time pointing to
an imaginary man, supposed to be running down Canal
street. I screamed at the top of my voice, * there he goes.”
The crowd started. after him, I with them, and so
escaped. ’

After this, T did not feel save in New York, so I leﬂ .and

went. to Albany, and being still but a boy in years, I went

in to a bake shop. and learned the baker’s trade. Here I
- stayed three years, and kept honest all the time. At the

end of that time I went to Lansingburg, and started business

for myself, carrying on a bakery. I.had then resolved to
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live an honest life. Here I met Wlth a Miss Mary Green,

~courted and married her, and was lwmg happﬂy and con-
tented.

Bu%,my sing found me out. Ofie df.iy I met one of
my old New York friends (/) and one of the worst of the
gang, and he who had always had most power over. me. So-
it was not long until the old life of dishonesty began, and
not long before my wife suspected and then learned the
truth,

My friend insisted on stoppmg at my house, and my

“wife overheard a conversation between him and me. She up-

braided me, and \threatened to leave me. I begged of her
not to be hasty, asiuring her that she was mistaken, and had

"not understood the conversation. At last she consented to.

wait a while longer, k1t on conditions that my friend left

the house. I promised her he should do so the mext

morning.

‘My wife was in- habit of drinking water through the
night ; I accidentally overturned the glass of water she had
snt at the side of ber bed, on the stand, I went and filled
it for her and put arsenic into it. She was quite sick in a
short time; in the morning she was teo ill to leave her bed.
} got us something to eat; gave her another dose of arsenic;
went off down town, and did not réturn home until after-
noon, then found my wife in the last agonies of death, sur-
rounded by a few ignorant neighbors. No doctor having -
been called I ran for one, well knowing she would be dead
when he got there. I pretended she was well when Ileft
the house, and from what he could learn fror those that

 were there—which was very little, she was almost insensible

when she was found—the doctor concluded she had died
of cholera. . I now sold out my business, settled up all'my
affairs and left, and 1 felt sure it was not any too soon: as
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my friend still stayed around, and.so conducted himself as
to fully satisfy the community that he was.a scoundrel, and
his remaining with me on the terms of intimacy brought me
under suspicien of not being all right. . I hurried through
with my affairs, and mede a bee-line for Canada. I started
. my friend off the day before I left, promising to meet him in
Buffal, but I had not the least idea of doing so.

When I reached Toronto, the Canada rebellion was in
progress. I immediately joined the rebels, and had the pleas-
ure of lyiﬁg in jail at Toronto for six months, and came
very near being shot. When I was released I left quickly
for the States, and made direct for Buffalo, N. Y.; he
again began to live by my wits. Being a musician—hagi
learned to play the violin in my youth—I got dp a bpnd,
- played for balls and parties, ingratiated myself into good
society, and for two years made money as fast as:any honest
man ought to wish. About this time I, having several hun-
dred dollars, bought an interest in a boat, the steamer Ro-
chester, which was running between Buffalo and Cleveland.
I went on her as steward myself. Here the old: propensity
came over me to stea], so I stole about all the boat made,
and thus got into a fuss with the othler owners, who threaten-
ing te have me arrested, concluded to let the matter rest un-
il we had made one more trip to Cleveland. I watched my
chance, bored holes in the bottom, in fact completely riddled
the hull; I bored them so that there were six holes large
enough for a man to crawl through. I bored the holes not clear
through, but so that I could take a hammer and peg and in
five minutes have all the holes open, which I found ir the
end to be quite a dangerous operation 4o myself, as when I
had knocked through five or six of the small holes, the force
‘of the water would burst the entire block up. We had not
got ten miles from Buffalo, when a heavy stoim arose; when
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I saw it was about to burst upon us, I hastened down to pre- -
‘pare her for destruction. The storm was so severe, and she

sank so quickly, that I scarcely got my job completed, and
. came very near being drowned in the hole; but at last I got

out, and reached shore, or rather was washed ashore, more
dead than alive, was pickeéd up by a farmer, taken to his
bouse, and kindly cared for. Over a hundred persons were
drowned, but one man escaped who saw me in the hole at
mydevil's work, and had fired a plstol at me; as he fired I
slipped and fell, he supposed he had k1lled me, and so re-

‘ported but when I returned to Buffalo, he met me in the
street, and recognized me. Agam the officers of the law
~ were on my track, and I had to:take “ French leave.” '

While in Buffalo, I married my second wife, Miss Elisa
Stauly She had several thousand dollars in bank, for which

I married her, and tried hard to get, but failed, as her ancle -

was her guardian, and soon seemed to fully understand n’xjr
true character,and motive. At ﬁrst I sought many Wdys o
put the uncle out of the way; but in this T also- farled
When I felt satisfied I could not get the money, I turned ny
attention to my wife and took my revenge upon “her. - My

treatment was so cruel that she became msane, and: no woh- -

der, for I maltreated and degraded her as only a'brutdl fisnll
“could. Many were the times I went’ home at the Houtof

midnight, took two or three friends along, of the shme’stripe

as myself and actually assisted them in degradmg her: and
joined them in their vile epithets, and this too, when he‘r
mind was almost gone. She was so extremely afraid of mie,
that I kept her silent by threatening her life, and her- famﬂy
diskiked ‘me to such an ‘extent, they never caine’ near our
- house, nor permltted her to comeé to the1rs, so long v shie
lived with me, go I had it all my own way, and thus with

various modes of torture I heaped upon her, she becaie
8
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hopelessly insane, or rather idiotic, and in this state I left
her upon her uncle’s hands.

2.

Arrival in Chicago, Il.~Turns Hotel-keeper—Becomes Dancing Master—
Murders Mr. Landsdale of Bostonr, Mass.—Marries Helen Pimoney,

robs and deserts her—A Mock marriage‘ with Ella Marks—Murders
her out on the lake—Robs and fires the Hotel, and leaves the city.

| ROM Buffalo I went to Cleveland, Ohio; but there
my stay was short. I could get nothing to do, and
Js5 dare not venture abroad to any extent, for fear of
- being detected. In Buffalo I was known as W. Bennett,
and was called by the boys Buffalo Bill (not the one whe

has since acquired such a notoriety under that name). Not -

feeling safe in Cleveland, I 14ft and went to Chicago, Iil.
Here I called myself Albert Gordon Bennett, representing
myself as a relative of James Gordon Bennett of New
York. ¢

When I reached Chicago, I had considerable money, so I
- looked about for business.. I soon bought an interest in a
hotel with-a Mr. Barker; also got a partner, and opened a
dancing school, he teaching dancing, and I furnishing the
music.. We soon had a very large and prosperous school;

we also furnished music for 'ba,lls and parties. Among the . .

scholars of our school was a very beautiful young girl named
Ella Marks. As soon as I saw her, I marked her.as my
victim. She was only fifteen years of age, and as innocent
a8 she was beautiful; therefore easily inﬂuencéd, and won
to do my bidding. At my suggestion she would leave her
home, telling her parents she was going to visit some of her
-acquaintances in a distant part of the city, then come direct
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0 mjr room, stay all day and often all night. Thus it was
not long until her ruin was accomplished. One night I plied
her freely with drugged wine. Never shall 1forget the scene
when she came to herself and learned what had been done.
She was almost frantic; thpeatenedi;o expose me to her parents,

“as well as to the school. 1 pacified her as best I could by teli-

ing her that I would marry her in a short time, and that no

‘harm should come to her. Thus things went on for months

In the mean time I had been paying my addresses to a Mus.
Helen Pimoney, a widow and the handsomest woman I ever
saw and worth considerable property. I liked her property
and liked her for its sake. I proposed to her, was accepted,
and married her forthwith.

When we had been married about a week, a Mr Lands-
iale from Boston, Mass., who was stopping at the hotel, was

taken suddenly very sick. He had been several weeks at

our house, when he took sick, and sent for me, I being one
of the landlords. Thinking he was going to die, he placed
in my hands a large sum of money, saying, “Should I.die, send
this to Mrs. Sarah Landsdale, 25 Court street, Boston, Mass.,”
he also stated he had come West tobuy real estate, I promised
bim faithfully to do as he wished in case he should die. ButI
laughed at him, cheered him up, told him he must not think
of dying, that he was worth a dozen dead men yet, and thus
I tried to calm his fears, though 1 had already determined
he should never leave his room alive. In the course of thirty-
six hours—the doctor having pronounced him out of danger
—he sent for me again, and requested the returh of his money.
To gain time, I told him it was in the safe,dand that my

. partner had the key, and was gone up town and that as soon

as he came in I would bring up his money, I helped him to
get up and dress, he being very weak, and much exhausted.
By the time we had his toilet completed, I suggested he
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should take a glass of wine; he consented to do so. - I went

myself to the bar to get it, and as good luck would have
it, the barkeeper was absent, so I procured the glass of

wine, not forgetting to put a good supply of strychnine in

the same, and sent it him by one of the servants with word
I would be up presently; in a few minutes the boy came

" running into the office, saying Mr. Landsdale had fallen -

from his chair. I hastened to the room and found him
dying, with but life enough to give.me one look, which
plainly revealed the fact As suspected foul play. He tried
* hard, but could not speak, and in a few moments was

dead, and the money was mine, as no one knew it was ius -

my possession, for I had not put it in the safe, as 1 had
reported to him. I quickly gathered up the fragments of
‘the tumbler (which had been smashed to atoms when it
foll from his hand as he drank the poisonous draught),
deposited them in the watercloset sink, and with them all
chance of discovery disappeared. I rang the bell furiously,
and sent for -the doctor; but when he arrived his patient
was ‘dead. The doctor made but very little examination,
pronounced it heart-disease, complicated and superinduced
by his recent severe illness. The doetor I think :was the
more careless, as he left no money to pay his bill, in fact
none to bury him ; so I very ma J:»m,vmmuahf huried him
" at my own expense. '

~_That job off my hands, T turned my attention o my Httle -

girl, who by this time was getting quite troublesome; shy had
heard the report that T was married to another. 1 met her
on the street as I returned from the funeral of my victim
(Mr. Landsdale). She was in a terrible state of excitement,
- threaténed me with exposure and all sorts of vengeance. I
‘laughed at her, called her my little darhng, took her to my
room, and there made her believe it was all false, and to
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prove to her that it was, got her to wait in the room, until I
went out and got a ministei‘, that we might be married im-
mediately, then I would take her rlght home to the hotel
to a room I had fitted up expressly for her. Poor girl, she
implicitly trusted and believed me, and her life paid the
forfeit. I went out, got one of my chums, rigged him up as
a minister, filled up a blank tax-receipt, to make a show of
licence, and returned to the room with my friend, and we
were soon made man and wife according to the “rogue’s
code” Poor Ella, she was so happy at the thought she was
an honest wife, and the babe to be born in a few months

~would not be illegitimate, that she was ready to do anything

to please me, particularly as I pretended to be a little angry
that she had doubted me. She was ready to do anythmg I
wished, so when I proposed we should take a sail ‘upon the
lake, she was delighted with the thought, and off we started
as happy as two crickets. Although: it was September, the

" weather was very pleasant, and though it was almost dark,

she never thought of harm. I procured a boat of Bob Ingals,
nty friend, the minister pro tern. I being an expert oarsman
was soon two miles at least from shore, but Ella was so

E happy she paid no attention to where we were going, and if

she had she would have thought it all right. Suddenly I
careened the boat to one side, and Ella being taken off her
guard fell overboard. She caught the side of the boat,

" looking to me to help her in. I raised the oar and struck

her on the head, but did not knock her loose from the boat.

* She now saw that-I intended to kill ber, so began to scream,

beg and pray that T would spare her life. But she had just
as well talked to the moaning winds of the lake, they would
have  shown her as much mercy as I T still kept stmkmg
at her with the oar to get her foose from the boat, which
every moment was in danger of being upset, and I dared
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not go near her for fear she would get hold of me. SoI
caught up a hatchet that was in the boat, and with one blowd
severed the hand from her wrist. I thought she was dead,
but such an: unearthly scream as rent the air, when I struck
the blow, may I never hear again, and the look her face
turned full upon me, as the body sank beneath the waves,
with her wild glassy eyes rsta.ring at me, I can never forget.
As she sank from sight I lgoked, and there still clung the
hand to the side of the boat.ﬁ brushed. at ‘it; thinking it
would fall off easily, but it seemed to be glued on, and to get
it off L had to loosen one finger at a time; as I tore them
- loose they clasped, around my'own fingers with the grip of
death. Trembling and shaking in every limb, at the terrible
spectre clinging to my hand, I jerked, twisted, tore at it to
no eﬁ'ect,\ and at last took my knife and cut it loose, and let
it fall into the lake; as it dropped that scream again rang
out upon the air. I know it was but imagination, but I fan-
cied I saw the wild staring eyes looking at me from the
water, and to this day I can see and feel that trembling hand,
in its terrible agony clinging to mine, and hear that. awful
scream ringing in my ears. I seized the oars, and made all
possible haste to the shore. Again it may have been but
fancy, yet every time 1 looked into the water, I could see
that white face, with its wild pleading eyes still looking at
me. When I reached the shore, I found my friend waiting
for me ; to his question, “ Whereis she?” I pointed to the blue
vault above us, signifying she had gone to heaven; then
placing my finger on my lips, I handed him some money,
and turned as if to leave him. He had stepped into the
boat, and was stooping over the side washing off the blood.
. "I turned, fired my pistol, shot him through the head, and he
dropped into the lake. I had not intended to harm him, but
something in his look as I turned from, him warned me
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there was danger in him, and to make all safe I wiped
out all chance of discovery. This scene took place near
the mouth of the Chicago River. A Feeling all secure now,
I went to my yoom, to arrange my dress, compose my-
self, ete. It was ten o'clock before I reached the hotel,
where I found my wife Helen waiting for me, to go home
with her; I did so, and stayed that night, but had decided
to leave the city inside of twenty-four hours. So I told
my wife I had bought a beautiful house and lot for our
future home, and was short a few hundred dollars to com-
plete the purchase. She handed me quite a sum of money,
saying she had that day déa.wn it from bank, with the
intention of asking me to invest it for her. I took it, promis-
ing to do so to the best advantage. I left her next morn-
ing, promlslng to be home early and take her to the theatre.
I stayed about the hotel all day, then while the guests
were at supper, I went to the third story and there, in
wooms not occupied, I poured camphene all over the figors,
fitst covering the windows with blankets, to keep. the light
from beéing seen, until the fire had & good start.” I.then
went to the office, of which T took charge while the clerk
want to supper. My partner was up town, and. I knew
he would not be home for several hours, so when the clerk
lofs the office, no otie being there then but myself, I helped
myself to the money in the safe and drawer, told the clerk
I bad put all in the safe and would keep the key, and go to

. one of the empty rooms and lay down; if anything was

needed ‘they could call me. I went directly to the rooms
T 'had prepared, lighted the fires, then went. down-stairs
the back way, and very fortunate for me met no ome,
passed-out into the alley, thence through back sigrgetgz;and.
walked five miles out of town that night. The hotel was
burnt and several lives were lost, and I reported as one of
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the number, as nothing was seen of me after I had gone up-
stairs to lay down. I stopped at a farm house, and . begged
a night’s lodging; I did not beg because I had no money,
but because I thought it pblicy to do so, for I now had a
large amount in my possession. '

I now made my way to St. Louis, Mo. On leaving Chi-

cago in the manner I did, I was forced to leave everything

I possessed, but what I had on my back. ' By this I lost one

of the finest and best violins I, and I think any one else,
ever saw. I had paid a large price for it; yet it was not
what I paid that made me value it, but thie tone of the instru-
ment. I dared not take it with me, as lt would have be-

trayed my identity; so I left it in my room, on Lasalle
street, near the Lasalle House. ‘

3.

In St. Louls—Stops at the Pacific Hotel, Seventh Street—Murders and

robs Mr. Nichols of Loulstana—Fires the hotel~Going down the Mis-

* sissippl River—In New Orleans—Gets frightened, leaves the clty—

In Memphis — Joins a theatrieal company—Marries again—Travels

through Illinofs, Indlana, and Ohio—Deserts his wife, and starts

upon another career of crime—Many who read this wlll readily

" remember the burning of the Pacific Hotel in St Louls, some years

ago—The landlord, Capt. Stradder (I think was the name), was susw
pected as the incendiary, but was innocent,

i Y next venture was St. Louis. There I stopped at
the Pacific Hotel, on Seventh Street, near the Pacific

=¥ Railroad Depot I stopped there two weeks, keepmo'
myself very reserved and quiet. Here I called myself -
Alfred Bennett, from New York City, a baker by trade, on
the lookout for a job. Staying at the hotel was a rich old

Southerner. I ingratiated myself into his good graces so %

thoroughly tl}at he was never satisfied without I was with
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him. He had with him’ quite a large sum of money and

* some very valuable diamonds. I soon made up my mind to

rob him the first good chance that offered, and it soon pre-
sented itsell in this way: we had been to the theatre one V
evening ; when we got back to the hotel, he not feeling very
well insisted I should remain with him in his room. Now
was my time; I did not intend to kill or hurt him at all,
but just as I had got possession of his money and dia-
monds, he awoke and attempted to give the alarm. With
one blow of my fist I knocked him senseless, and stabbed
him to the heart where he lay. I now secured all the valu-
ables, set fire to the room, and it being about one o'clock at
night, I went to my own room, and waited for the alarm of
fire; when it was given, from some one in the street, the

. flames had gained such headway that it was all the- guests

could do to escape with their lives, and several perished in
the flames. Myself and Mr. Nichols were reported among.
the number lost. When the alarm became general, I man-
‘aged to leave the hotel unobserved.

By -this job I added to my treasury largely in money; the.

diamonds I never knew what they were worth, as they in
turn were stolen from me on the way down the river. When
I left the burning hotel, I went direct to the levee, and found
a boat ready to leave at daylight; I sauntered about—in my
new and perfect dlsuulse-—among the levee saloons that are
to be found there open all night. T watched the boat, and
when she was just ready to leave, went on board, and in a
fow minutes was steaming down the Mississippi. I registered
myself on the boat's book as Wm. 'Fontaine, of Springfield,
Iil., and represented. myself as on my way to Austin, Texas.
The steamer was the Henry Chautéau, then a new and one
of the finest packets between St. Louis and New Orleans.
On board were three noted gamblers, and thinking myself
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quite an expert at cards, I took a hand with them, but in a
few days got cleaned out of thousands of dollars. I thought
it time to quit, and did so. Nothing further of any account
occurred on .the way down. One of the cabin boy‘s had a
wviolin, and having left it lying on the table in the gents’
eabin, I picked it up and began to play. After that I had
plenty of amusement in the ladies’ cabin, and was always
‘2 welcome guest among. the lady passengers.

When we reached New Orleans, I stopped at the St.
Charles Hotel; here I lost sight of my gambling friends.
The second day after I reached the city, as I went to the

dining-room, I saw seated at the table a well-known Chicago -

detective ; he had not seen me, so I did not go in to dinner.

Whether he was looking for me or not, I never knew, as I -

did not stop to ask him, but turned away, and went direct to
the wharf, The Memphis, packet was just ready to start.

I went on board. Nothing of importance occurred on the -
trip. When I reached Memphis, I stopped at the Commer-

cial Hotel, kept by Mr. Cockerell. Here I met and formed
the acquaintance of an actor by the name of White; he had
1> money, and I had considerable, so he tock quite a fancy

to me, and I must say I was much pleased with. him. He

was going up the river to join a travelling theatrical com-
pany; he said the manager, Mr. Wakeman, had requested.

him to get a musician, and as I played the violin, just what

he wanted, he insisted I should go with him. While debat-
ing in my own mind the chances I should run by doing so,
I read an account of the burning of the Lake House at
Chicago, with quite a pathetic account of my death, the find-
ing and burial of my supposed remains. So, on the whole,
I conc;luded I should be safe to make the venture; but before
leaving Memphis I had my hair and whiskers colored a jet
black, their natural color being very light. After remaining
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in Memphis about a week, we took boat for Cairo, where wo
found our party waiting for us. The manager seemed very
glad of my services; again I started on my travels, and this

" time in a new role of operations. We visited various towns
in Hlinois with but moderate success; leaving Illinois, we

went to Terre Haute, Ind.; here we did nothing. From
Terre Haute we went to Green Castle; here we barely paid
expenses. From there we went to Indianapolis; here we
did well for a week, though we stayed two, and lost the last
week what we made the first. From here we went to Craw-,

* fordville, from thence to Lafayette; at this place we re-

mained five months, doing an excellent business all the time.
JFrom the time of joining the company up to this time, Ihad
kept myself very quiet and honest; some times it was. hard
to do, but I did if, and won for myself the name of being
quite a gentleman, and though I had thousands of dollary,
T was very careful not to let it be known in the compauy,
but pretended my salary was all I had to live upon.

" In the company among the lady actresses was a Miss
Devere, to whom I took quite a fancy, and she seemed as
well pleased. with me. Although a widow, she was quite
young, 1iot twenty years of age; she was quite good-looking,
in fact the bestlooking woman in the company, though there
were but three—the managers wife, who was very much
of alady, and an old Mrs. Pratt, a perfect old catamaran,
who was very sweet on a catfish-faced Jem that was in the
company. Mrs. Pratt.was noted most for her large mouth, .
and the peculiar way she had of opening and shutting it
caused her o receive one night a large bouquet of different
kinds of vegetables—beets, turnips, cabbage, etc., labelled,
“A delicate morsel for the Mammoth Cave;” but this is
digressing. o o -

Miss Devere had dark hair and eyes, above the medium
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height, and of more than ordinary intelligence. We had
now been several months together in the company; I made
her a proposition of marriage; thinking me all right she
accepted it. We were married immediately by a justice
of the peace, by the name of Dame; we still remained in
“the company for several months after our marriage, and
so strong was the habit upon me to act dishonestly, when we
left Lafayette, I made the landlord of the house where we
boarded believe that I was not going with the company, and
. that my wife would only be gone a few weeks. Thus I took
all her baggage and my own to the packet (canal), saw the
company off, returned to the hotel, took dinner, went up
town where a friend was waiting for me with a buggy to
carry me out, and overtake the boat at a point ten or fifteen
miles ahead, and also out of the county; thus I shirked my
board bill, near seventy-five dollars, |
From Lafayette we went to Fort Wayne, then to various
other towns along the Wabash canal until we reached To-
ledo, Ohio; thence to Dayton, then Hamilton, and then to Cin-
cinnati to disband. While in Lafayette, I found out our mana-
" ger was an inveterate gambler as well as myself. So we took
a hand with each other, and the consequence was I lost sev-
eral thousand to him. After the company was disbanded in
Cincinnati we remained there, I doing nothing; but my wife
- got an engagement in the National Theatre. During this time
I fell in with a regular sharper and by the 4th of July, the
time the theatre closed, I had not only lost all the money I
had but all my wife had. |
Finding no good chance in that neighborhood to steal
- or kill anybody to make a raise safely, I proposed to my
wife we should go to her father in the country and spend
the remainder of the summer, which was only about fifty
miles from the city, It suited her very much, as she had
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not beent home for some- time, and was very a.nxmus o see

her son. -
While: at my fatherqn—la.w s 1 mduced ‘mn to. go my secur-

ity for the material to make and paint a set of theatrical

geenery; being considerable of a “dauber,” I managed to

get. it up after’ a fashion, ‘When it was completed, my
father-in-law went witli ‘me to Wilmington, -hired for me
two horses and a large carriage to go to Cincinnati and. bring
out a theatrical ~company for the purpose of .playing in
Wilmington, and then making a tour through Ohio.

I had now been over a year living comparatively honest,
but when I found myself in Cincinnati with a carriage ared
two good horses, all my good intentions and, honesty disap-
peared. Saﬁntering round, maturing in my mind a plan of
operation, I met one of my former eequaintances . from
Buffalo, N. Y, and in less than two hours- I had sold thie
team at auction on Sixth street, and with the proceeds aud
my friend left for Louisville; Ky. .

| | 4.
s P -

In Loulsﬂlle—-ﬁoes into the hurnt-cork ” husiness—Rebs a bauk—-Kllls
_the porter Megts his Wife— Fiddling? again— Starts ‘his' wite
]‘ortune-telnng; treats her cruelly—Meets an old friend—@Gets exposed
and 1s arrested for blgamy—ln Jail: gets out — Kills his n-m:m (?)—-—
Pursues his wife—Arrested agaln; gets released—8till after his wife—

In the Toombs at New York-——Sllps throngh the meshes of the law— 2

In the jail at Lafayette, Ind,

HEN we reaehed Loulsvﬂle, we put up at the old
Bli¥ Louisville, Hdtel Ias Mr. Jackson, and - my friend as
Mr. Richards. W? kept on the watch, but found

: nothmg we dared to take hold of; we managed to rob a '_

couple of rooms one night, and raised a fow hundred dollars,
s . :
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‘made nothing either stealing or otherwise.
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and were the first the next morning to raise the hue and

cry that we had been robbed, of course the thief was not

‘ caught nor were we sulpected Funds getting low agairi some-
" thing must be done.

My friend wanted to rob the Louisville
Bank of Kentucky. “I demurred, not thinking it a safe joh.
So he got “on his ear” and left, and I saw him no more.

A day or two after I met a party of young men that were
forming a negro minstrel troupe.
again upon my travels, and resuméd my old trade of stealing
We took a short trip out in Indiana, but
' We visited Vin-
cennes, Evansville, then to the different towns along the Ohio

at every chance.

river until we reached Albany, Ind. Here myself and one of
‘the party spotted a man at the hotel who seemed to.carry a
. large™ quantity of money about his person.
. 'was at the show; we had made it a point to .get on terms of
* intimacy with him.  So after the performance that night, we

Every-night he

stayed out to have a high old time, it being our last night in
the place. I picked his pocket, and got several hundred dol-
lors. I secured the money in the leg of my boot, and
then before he had time to miss his money, I placed my
hand on my pocket, and called out I was robbed; he missed

' ]ns, and another man had lost Lis pocket book; wmy partner
‘had relieved him. We were in a crowded ssloon; being

rather good at swearing, I practised considerable just then

“and left for our hotel, the victim along with us. If they ever
'/)suspieioned the facts, we never heard of it. E_arly the next

morning we Ieﬂ; for Lexington, Ky.

"It was now very cold weather, being the dead of wmter.
‘When we reachied Lexington we stopped at the Phoenix Hotel.
‘Here we stayed two weeks, and had good houses everytnight.

. While here myself and pal laid our plan to rob the Bank of
”Lexmgton which we did, but were forced to kill the porter

I joined them and started -

MYSTERIOUS MURDERS REVEALED. 51
who slept in the bank. We entered the hank by way of the

~ window, first removing the shutters, then cutting out the glass

we succeeded in getting in, but had not yet got the safe open,
when. the porter came upon the scene. Before he eoulld'
time to speak, we knocked him senseless with a large fire-

poker, striking him on the side of the head. He gave usno
. farther trouble; we now opened the safe and. were proceeding

to help ourselves, when we heard the alarm, and sprang to

_ escape, which we succeeded in doing; but would not, if the

party who in passing saw the window shutter had stood
still and hallooed, instead of which he ran ‘off'to give the
alarm, thus leaving the way for our exit, We had our faces

blackened, so when they returned and entered the bank,

they found it empty except the dying porter, who was

-only able to say, “Two negroes,” and died... So two negroes,
- who bore very bad characters in Lexington, were arrested
- for the murder and robbery, when we lgft. In this grab

we raised a large amount, which.my pal and I divided equally

_between us,

Our nef‘. point was Maysvllle here we dld but htt.le in
the show line, and here my pal took a notion to go south;
so we parted, he going south, and I remaining with the com-

. pany. From Maysville we went to Ripley, Brown co., Ohio,
‘then to Georgetown, then on throuo'h the country until we

reached Circleville; then Massillon, and then down to San-
dusky and the lake shore.

Through all this campaign we made but little, often not .
paying expenses, and in many places had to. leave without
paying our %hills. Though I had plenty of money I dared
not let, 1t be known; as I was fully satisfied that our man-
ager and most, if not all the rest, of the party were honest
men. When we reached Sandusky, we concluded it would

~ not pay, and disbanded and scattered off; most of the men
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“having trades, pamters or printers, found employment at
their trade. '

- Tt was now about the middle of Apri], 1850. 1 started
‘off on'a tour by myself, and not liking the atmosphere of
‘the lake, and for fear it might prove unhealthy for me, I
started inland, travelling By stage, passing on through Ohio

into Pepnsylvania. After wandering around considerably,”
I brought up at Erie, Pa., and there I found my wife with ~

a theatrical company under the management of John Powell.
I made peace with her by telling her a trumped-up stowy,
and madeé arrangements with the manager to lead the af-
chestra; but the company soon bursted up,
" one of those men that never paid a dollar y one if lip,
could avoid it. o Y
I had often noticed a ‘peculiarity about my wife, and al
last became satisfied that she was a natural clalrvoy&m
‘though she was 1gnora.nt of the fact herself. I told her Woilig

=y

1 thought ; she only la.ughed at me, but finally T, *pa"'t

through persuasion, and partly by force, made her adopt th

‘ professmn of a travelhng clairvoyant and fortune teller. My .‘

health at this time was -very poor, so we started, T doing
nothing, but making my wife support me. We travelled alh
* over New York, Pennsylvania, Ohio, and Indlana. 1 always
. kept closely to my room in the hotel, besides belng well
disguised with my black hair and whiskers, and wore gr oy
glasses to hide my blue eyes, though under the pretext

. weak eyes. During these three years I was honest, for I «@ﬂ
nothing but abuse my wife; I got so I scarcely ever gave
her a kind word. She a.lwa.ys seemed to mistrust mé, and
watch me in such a way that irritated me, so 1 traated her
eruelly. At last we reached St. Loms, Mo., where we re-
mained all the summer, and though I did nothing, I resumed
"my old trade of gambling, and picking pockets when a good

Powell wup -
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, ehance offered ; in gambling I not only lost all I could steal,

but all my wife made. When she would not give me her
money willingly, T would hold her, and take it from her by
force; she had disappointed me 2o, for I hoped when I got,
her to-turn out fortune-teller, that in time I could induce

‘her to assist me in all my schemes; but she conducted her-

gelf in such a manner that I never dared to make a confi-
dant of her, or reveal to her my true character; so I.fook
revenge by treating her as but few people would treat a dog.
She bore it as best she could, thinking.she was my lawful

wife, and knowing well from past experience how useless

it would be to try to get rid of me. But fortune they say
favors the bra.ve, and this time it favored her. ‘
1 met one of my old Chicago friends ; I tried hard to deny
my identity, but it was no use, he knew me. After-tqlking;"

" to him a while, and thinking I could trust him, I took him

to my house, and introduced him to my wife, telling him at
the time we were not married, only living together. -Shs

- smployed him to give her son lessons on the pxa.% Ii was

sot long until he began to think I had lied o him, see-
iy how I treated her (which was no better in, Jw}%,x.sx presence
than behind his back). One day‘when he was present giv-

~ ing her-son his lesson, I so far forgot myself as to knock her

¢own, and take her money, and go—as he knew I was gomg‘
to do—to give it to my fancy woman, “Eliza Haycraft.”
After T had left, he said to my wife : _

“Why do you live with this man, when he treg.ts you

~as-he does?”

~ ““How can I get rid of him? He wont lea.ve me, nor let
me leave him.” .
“Prove to me you are his wife, and I will tell you how
to get rid of him fast enough.” o
~ “There is our marriage certificate; is that any proof?”
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“Yes, that's enough. This man, who calls himself your
husband, has a living wifé in Chicago, from whom he has
never been diverced. What his true name is, I do not know H
there he was known as A. G. Bennett.”

“ Are you sure his wife is living ?”

“Yes, I saw her but two weeks ago‘; she thinks he is
dead.” -

Then giving her instructions how to get the proof of
what he told her, he left the house, and when I returned'
in the evening, she told me plainly what she had learned,
and that she should take the necessary action 1mmed1a,tely
to get the proof; and more, if I was in the city at ten
o'clock the next day, she would have me arrested and held
until those -proofs came, on the evidence of -y friend, and
then take me to Chicago and have me tried for my crimes.
Feehnv the game was up, I left trusting in time to soffen
my wife’s anger, and vowing vengeance on my false friend.

" Ileft St. Louls that night on a steamer for Cincinnati;
she 1mmed1ate1y broke up house—keepmg, went to Chicago,
and there obtained the proof that would convict me of
bigamy, not as it seemed for the purpose of prosecating me,
but to protect herself against me. It was near t\yo months
before she left Chicago; in the meantime I Kad become
desperate. I was too lazy to work, and I felt a dislike to
pick up. my old trade; not that I was too honest, but only
too lazy, and did not like to run the risks I would have to
in following it. So when I learned my wife was in Louis-
ville, Ky., T went 1mmed1ately to that city, and went to the :
hotel where she was stopping (the Exchannre), kept by a My

"Mosher. It being midnight when I reached the city, T went
to the hotel office, told the clerk on watch that I was the
ladys husband ; he knowing nothing of the trouble, gave
me the numbeér of her room, T went up’and knocked, but
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she, suspecting who it waa, refused me adunttance s0 I left
the hotel and wandered around the streets until dayllvht

- mad enough to cut my throa,t and everybody else’s, When
- morning came I went back to the hotel. She would not see

me, but informed me through the agency of the landlord
that it was no use to come near her, as she would not live
with me, and that I Would only get myself into trouble, I
hung around for a day or two, finding I could gain nothing,

~ a8 everybody in the hotel approved her course and condemned ‘v
me. At last I sent her word if she would give me the money

to leave the city, I would do.so and ti'ouble her no more.

She sent-me the money, and I- returned to Cincinnati; but

went back to Louisville in less that a week, and demanded
that she should live with e or furnish me what money I
wented to live on. She very promptly refused to do it, and
thereupon had me arrested, tried and held to await a re-
quisition from the Governor of Indiana, to take me to La-

fiyette on the charge of bigamy, and as I could not give bail -

Thed to go to jail. Inow became thoroughly frightened, and
kugan to beg for mercy, and promised her faithfully if she
vrould not take me back to Indiana that when my sixty days
for which 1 was commitfed were up I would Hever come
near her again; thinking, now that I kpew she was deter-
mined not to have anything more todo with- me,. I would Jet
her alone. She took my word, and let the requisition go by
default and went on down south. No requisition coming,
when rhy sixty days were up I was set at liberty., I was
penniless and so had to make a raise; and knowing the best
place to do that would be about the levee saloons, I went

" there, and before an hour had passed I replenished my pocket

with several hundred dollars, out of the pocket of a hog-

dealer. Just as I was leaving the saloon, and before the theft
was discovered, who should I meet in the door but Frank

e e A e e e e I O o e e e e Tl oS a2




58 THE LIFE OF ANSON BUNKER.

_ my false friend of St. Louis. Ihailed him, but he seemed a
little shy at first, still as I feigned entire ignorance of his tell-
ing my wife anything, he came to the eonclusmn that I did
"not know it, and when I invited him to go over to J efferson-
ville with me, saying I thought we might make a raise over
there, he readily consented to it. It was now near ten o'clock,

very dark and cloudy. I purposely got near the gangway, and
‘when about the middle of the river stumbled arramst hlm, he
lost his balance, and fell overboard. He hallooed, but no one
: seemed to hear him, and I walked unconcernedly off to

another part of the boat; no one saw or mlssed hlm, and T

-had my revenge. Knowmg he ¢ould not swim I am sure he
was drowned. ’

I stayed that mght in J effersonville at the Jeffersonville
Hotel, I think was the name. Next morning bright and
early I went to New Albany, and took passage on the Aleck:

Scott for New Orleans; on the boat I registered my name as

~ 'W. White, the English of my wife’s fortune*telhng name. -]

was now more than ever determinetl, to wreak vengeance upon

rthe « Ma.dam When we reached Vicksburg, I saw by the
papers of that city that my wife was there or was two days
before. Ileft the boat, went to the hotel, and found she had
gone to Jackson, Misé Thad tostay over'n‘ight; hére;- and in

the morning took the cars for that place.” When I reached’
there it was noon. \I went boldly to her room and told her

she must live with me or die. She refused, and 1 caught

her, w1th the intention of chokmg her to death, but for fear of

harm to myself changed my mind, took from her her pockeb

book; tore her watch and chain from her neck. Then went
down stairs, to tell the landlord a cock-and-bull story, a.nd*

. gef her turned out of the hotel. “While I was talkm«r to 'the

landford the “Madam” left the house by the back way, found

& sqmre 's office, got out a warrant, and before my sfory was

e

MYSTERIOUS MURDERS REVEALED. b9

. half told, an officer walked up, and arrested me; to say that
'I was . taken by surprise, and fairly beat, but too poorly
expresses my feeling on that occasion. I’ was mmedzately
tried, and remanded to jail i Jackson to await the requisi-
tion from Governor nght of . Indiana. This time the
Madam took the required steps to put a quietus to further

' annoyance from me, and returned to Lafayette, went before

the Grand J ury, got an indictment agaihst me for bigamy,
‘procured the requisition,fand sent the Deputy Sheriff of

- Indianapolis to Jackson after me. Being no railroad o reach

Jackson, travel was only by boat, and as the officer went
" dowa after me, T went up after my wife. After she had left
Jackson, T gent for a lawyer, and told hlm my story, gave
him' a good fee, and he not only freed me on a writ of habeas
corpus, but had turned over to me all' my wife’s papers that
she, at her Iawyer s request, had left with them.
Being free two days after she left, havmg all her papers,

- knowing she was powerless without them, I started up the

river, stopped at Memphis, began to Lunt up thé Madam’s
whereabouts, which I soon found to be Clncmna.tl where'

/éhe was waiting the return of the officer. I kept qulet'

where I was, waited for her to leave Cmcmnatl, which ‘she

d1d as soon as she learned I was gone. ' I ‘then went boldly

 to that city, and learned she was in Wheehng, Va.; so' T took
i boat for that city, reachmg there just as she was Ieavmg the

* “hotel to ‘go to Pittsburg. 'Y went on the boat- with her;

when we' lande& at Pittsburg, I went to the’ hotel- mth her,
and reglstered our names as man and w1f‘e Stie: ha.d kept’
quiet' all ‘the time. "I got a room; ‘she went to-it; I went
along;’ when we reached the room, I.took out the papers
which she had left in J ackson, and laid. them on the fire,
and let her sce’ them turn to ashes. - She never said’a word,’
but turned ‘and’ rang the bell; when it was answered,




60 THE LIFE OF ANBON BUNKER.

demanded o see the landlord quickly. 1 asked her what
she was going to do, not supposing she could do anything;
she merely said, “ Wait, and find out.” When Mr. Benuett,
the landlord of the hotel, came in, she told him the whole
truth, and demanded ‘ptfétec'tion, that I should be moved
immediately from her room, and that he should Temain
‘there until it was done. He felt she had told him the truth,
though we were both strangers to-him; he rang the bell,

and. sent a boy after a policeman. ¢ I concluded now it wag

dbout time for me to go; I left without a.ny further invi-
tation.

The Madam remamed in Plttsburg, at the St. Clmr Hotel,
six weeks; I went to Philadelphia, and there watched her
movements by the papers. From Pittsburg she went to
New York City; I followed her, and once here, I was more

bold than ever. She did not stop at a hotel in New York,
~ buf: took rooms, and kept house by herself. For over two

mjnths I gave her no peace dey and night; she consulted a°

lairiyer; he told her not to have me arrested until she got the
rojuisition.. I knew she had sent for it, but I followed her
wherever she went, fully intending when the papers came to
follow her home, and take them away. At last a copy of /
thi mdmtment, but not. the other papers, came; I had fol-
lowed her.to the post-office, but when she got the letters,.

she put them in her shoes, and went home, I with her. As -

goon as we got there, I searched her for the papers; finding
none, I laid down across the door to rest, and fell asleep.
She quietly stepped over me, went to the Jefferson Market
pelice court, and had an officer sent up after me. When
they got within & square of the house, the officer waited
until shie came to the house to see if I was there yet, having
arranged a signal with him; she came in, and found me
fast; asleep, took off her bonnet, and gave the officer the
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signal. 'When he came to the door, she awoke me, saying,

a gentleman from the Bowery Hotel, where I was stopping,

wanted to see me, and had sent for me to come up there. -
I jumped up, put on my hat and coat, and started with the
officer; when we had got about two squares from the house,

- he drrested me. Assoon as 1 realized the situation, I started -

to run; it was a very hot day, and there was a very merry

~chase for about three blocks, ‘but the police got thicker and

more of them. Trying to dodge into an alley I ran into the
arms of a six-footer, surréndered at diseretion, and quietly

- walked down to the police office; I was tried before Judge

Stewart, and committed to the Tombs to await the inevitabie
requisition. The Madam now refused to pay any more
expense, in fact, she did not have the money to do it with;
so when the requisition came, there was no money-to pay for
sending me back. I had been committed for ninety days,

“but when forty days had gone by, some of my friends and

my lawyer made Judge Stewart believe, that if he would
release me, I would immediately go to sea on a whaling
voyage, and not go near the Madam; on these conditions he

. released  me, and mstead of shlppmg to sea, I walked 29

stra.wht to the Madam s room as I could go. She now folt

" it would be useless to think of having any peace with me

there, and left the city, went directly to Indiana, where I
had the audacity to follow her, as I was determined to make
her live with me, or have revenge, if it cost me years of
imprisonment or my life. I followed her to her rhothei's,

~with the help of one of her brothers and her mother she

beat me; they were to treat me kmdly, and pretended to
being’ coa.xmg her to live with me, while she would not say
much’ anyway. After remaining for two weeks at home,
she got ready to start, and not Very gracmusly told me, if

wanted to hve with her to come; off I went as tickled as &

)SQ
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boy with a new whistle, thinking Irhad conquered When
we reached the depot, which was eight miles distant, 1 found
myself in the hands of the Sheriff of Delaware county, ar-
rested on a bench warrant“ from Lafayette, Ind. No requisi-
tion was needed now ; the trains goirig east and west passed
. at this place, Muncie. With a pair of bracelets on my wrists

-1 started for Lafayette, while the Madam, no doubt feeling
*_much relieved,tsta,rbed back to New York. 'I arrived at La-
fayette safe and sound, took up my quarters in the jail, and
there I remained from November, 1854, to April, 1855. Was
‘then tried for bigamy, and only escaped the State’s prison
by Statute of Limitdtion. T never saw & living human being
so pale as the Madam was, when that verdict was given. She
folt then it was war to the death with her and me, as long
as one or both of us lived, and knowing of none other of my
crimes, she felt herself almost powerless, and I never left a
" place with so light a heart as'I walked out of that court-

rogi.

5.

dut of Jall—Commits another Robbery in ¢inctonati—After his Wife—In
New Orleans entraps and killsher on Paydras Street—Salls for Chiha
—Tries to got up a Mutiny — Deserts Ship—In South America—At a
Fandango—6Gets into a Row—Leaves In ]lurry——At Buenos Ayres—At ﬁea
agaln—8hipwrecked—In Boenos Ayres agaln——ln New 0rleans—1‘urns
Roldier—Goes Bushwhacklng

WAS again free, and no longer feared my wife or the
;& law as far as she was concerned. But I was fully satis-
Er fied that she would never live with me agam And
more, she had warned me, in the court-room, in presence of
- the Court, that she would no longer appeal to the law, but
take vengeance into her own hands, and that she would
always be prepared, and if I ever in the future crossed her
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path; and by word, look or move showed that I recognized her, -~
she would kill me on the spot. I knew that she would do
a8 she said, and that she was an expert with the pistol. But
I was as fully determined to-kill her, and not. to lose sight
of her until T had done it; yet I thought it best to adopt a
different mode of operation, so let her go, yet always kept-
_ posted as to her whereabouts.  In the fall .of 1855 she werit
1o New Orleans. I followed her, and on reaching the city
took a room down on Deadman street; in the French part of
the city. I soon learned the Madam’s location from the dailyr .
papers of the city, which was Paydras street, between St:
‘Charles and Ch street. I was now so thorcughly diw
 guised, that she did mnot recognize me, though she met me
- geveral times -on the street. I waited and watched for the
chance I wished ; at last it came, and better than I had hoped
for. I was on the watch ‘walking along Paydras street ; the
Madam came out sbout half-past-seven o’clock in the evening,
passed up to St. Charles street, into the St: Charles Theatre.
1 went in also, and kept watch of her, until the play wag
-over. When she left I got near her, and in the crowd’ kept,
so. T had no definite plan of operatio;a formed ; bub as good
" fortune would have it, or the devil, I don’t know which, she .
had not got half-way home, before she was rudely insulted
by two drunken rowdies. I quickly sprang to her assistance,
sent one of her assailants into the gutter, the othet on the
fla of his back in the niiddle of the street. T then turned
aﬁd very respectfully offered my services, to see her to her
home in safety. She very thankfully accepted. = When we
reached her door, T remarked, I believed I had mashed my
hand, as it had begun to pain me very much. She invited
me into the light, to examine it. Once inside the room, I felt
all was safe. I followed her up-stairs to the second-story .
front Yoom ; the Madam turned up the gas, went intq another
5 | ‘

0
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rYoom, to remo;ve her bonnet and sha.wl.;, in the moment she
was absent, I had removed my wig and falsé whiskers. As

. ghe came out of the room into the parlor, we mortal enemies.
~ stood once more face to face, I with a revolver within two

feet of her head, and she so frightened that she could neither

-move nor speak. - I ordered her to sit down, telling her, if

she kept quiet I would not harm her, but if she made the

least noise, or attempted to give the alarm, 1 would shoot *

her instantly. She obeyed, feeling she cou)d do nothing else.
I told her she must and should tallk with me, and that I

- proposed to stay until T was ready to leyve. * She begged
piteously in suppressed tones that I should go, saying,
“You know you have no claim upon me, that you have -

alwa.ys abused me.” R ,

"% That shbJect admits of considerable dlﬁ'erence of opinion,
what some would call abuse others would not.”

“You certainly cannot call your treatment of me kind,
and more, you must acknowledge that 1 am not your wife,
inasmuch as you had a living wife, from whom you were not
divorced, when you married me.” ' ;

«Tt is not to talk over any of my mlsdeeds or the pa.st
that I am here, but to talk of the future.”

“Why of the fature ? with you and 'I there can be nothmg '

in common in the future.”
“But I thmk there can be; there, sit stlll and hea.r what
SR
“Say on!” '
«Tt is just/as well we fully understand each other, and
that you know me as I am; then you can decide better what
to do, and how 1mportant it wﬂl be to you to make peace

with me.”

Then T told her all my past history just as it was, and as-

stired her that her fate and mine were one and the same for
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the rest-of our days, be they many or few. She fell upon her
knees, begged and prayed for mercy, promising she would

“support me, if I would only stay away from her; but to live

with me she could not. I told her it was useless to talk in

- that way; but if she would live with me and counsent to do

my bidding in all ‘things, R,would not only spare her life but
treat her more kindly than 1 had ever done.
She staggered to her feet, saying, “1I cannot, I cannot | s

* there nothing that will induce you to leave me, and let me

have a little peace? Happiness I do not expect; that you
heve already destroyed; lea.v% me,~-for the love of God,
leave me!”

I caught her’ by the arm and said, pointing to the clock
(it was 3 A.m.), “I.give 'you but three minutes, to say yes,
or no; if no, you die; if yes, it will be all right.”

She tried to free herself, but I held her fast; again she

'groaned rather than spoke “1 ca,nnot, I cannot; I will not;
kill me.”

- The strain had become too much for her nervous system,
and she fell fainting to the floor, or would, had I not caught
her and laid her down. While in this condition, T proeeeded
to bind her hands and feet. As soon as she showed signs of
returning consciousness, I gagged her, and thus had her com-

“pletely at my mercy. I waited until she came to, so she *
- could feel all the torture I inflicted upon her. I seated my-

gelf upon her feet and legs, and when she was fully conscious,
then I began (first asking her if she would live with me; she
shook her bead, all she could do) by stabbing her through
the lungs. Again T asked her, would she live with me; still
she shook her head ; then I stabbed her in the stomach, then -
in the bowels, and thus I kept stabbing her until I saw she

~was unconscious, and beyond feeling, so I stabbed her through

the heart and cut her throat; in & few moments she was
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dead. I had kept her lying on her back so that no blood was

scattered -about, but what had run upon the floor when I ‘

‘éut'_her throat. At the inquest it was a great source of won-
der how such a murder could be committed and such terrible
vwounds inflicted and so little blood to be found; this is why

it was so. When she was dead I unbound her, took thé gag

from her mouth, got all the money and valuables, and left
the house about five o'clock A. M., returned to my room, and

: élept all day as celmly as if T'had never committed a crime

of any kind. Next day the daily papers were filled with ac-
counts and theories of the mysterious and shocking murder

‘of Mrs. ¥ord, a fortune-eller on Paydras street, statmg

that persons in the adjoining rooms heard no noise, saw 1w
stranger; so the mystery was. never solved and will not he
unless at some future day this should see the light.

Havmg completed my revenge, and added a fow hundrﬂd
dollars to my pocket, I removed my disguise, went to the
levee, and shipped as a-common sailor on hoard of a ship
bound for Hong Kong, China. When T shipped it was my
intention to get up a mutmy among the sailors, seize the
vessel, and turn pirate upon the high seas; but in this I

"made a failare, and came very near being swung from the

yard-arm. Arriving at Hong Kong, I deserted, and T have
no doubt the captain thought, “Well xid of bad rubbish.”
After deserting the vessel, I was fortunate enough fo find

~ one the next day bound for South America. I took passage

for Rio Janeiro, which place we reached in safety. On the

trip I had noticed two of the sailors; ; one was an American, ‘

the other was English. T was not long in léarning they
were of the Mystic Brotherhood; so we soon became: fast
friends, and when we reached Rio Janeiro I went on shore;

" the two sailors deserted, and kept hid until the vessel left.
Then we joined company, and started inland, with very little

&
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mea of anything definite in the futhre. ,. We crossed the
Brazilian Mountains on- foot; once in a while we met with

~ aslight adventure with a wild animal or one of the enormous

serpents with which that country abounds, but never any-
thing to amount to much, but thp reason’ majf‘be we always
ran when the danger began to thicken. So living most of

‘the time in_the wilderness, and ‘travelling short distances

daily we reachéd the hieadwaters of the Parana river and
follotved it down to the town”of Parana, a small Spanish
village of “adobe houses,” where gambling and cockfighting

a8 about all the business__that was done. Here the lazy,
dolent life just suited us. So we concluded to rest awhile,
and enjoy ourselves in gambliffg and attend cockfighting.
All went wel] until one night we went to a Spanish Fandango,
and as always is the case the women showed partiality for the
Americans, the natives became jealous, and‘_the consequence
was a row, during which the Englishman, John Allen, was
killed, while myself and Ambrose Stoddard merely ‘escaped
with our lives. “But for the life of our friend we took_four

. of the natives’ lives, We now knew that the game there

was up, end that our safety only was in flight; so we'did not
stand upon the order of our going but went at once, did not

- wait for daylight o take our departure, and say our adieus,

But when the “first blush of rosy morn kissed the eastern
hills” we were miles on our way to Buenos Ayres which jour-
ney we also made on foot.

South America may be a very fine country, but it is a very
poor p]ace for a common pickpocket.  When we reached
Buenos Ayres, we found some Americans here, and repre-
senting ourselves as shipwrecked sailors, we received every
care and attention usually bestowed on such persons. - Here

we remained for thrqe months before we got a chance to
leave. While here T often took short journeys inland, went
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on hunting excursions, etc. At last being heartily ivea.ry of

‘the country, and finding the thieves in that country so far
superior to myseif in skill, [ left, on a-vessel about to sail
for France, Three days afizr we sailed, we were ship-
wrecked, and after being four days in an open boat, and two
days of that time without anything to eat or a drop of water,
‘were picked up by a vessel, and carried back to Buenos
Ayres. Here from exposure and privation I was taken sick

with a fever, and for five months lay helpless, and when I .

had so far recovered as to sit up, it was two months more
before I could walk., I now found it was necessary to find

something to do, so I turned my fiddling to account, and . -

remained here for three years, married a rich old “Don’s”
" daughter, and though he gave his-consent to our marriage,
yet he did not like me. In a few months after our marriage
the old man passed away; he was taken sick, and might
have got well, but it was so easy to help him off I could
‘not help it; so when he was gone, the great old castle and
his only daughter were mine. I laid my plans now to get
hold of all the valuables possible, and leave the country;
~everything being left in my hands, I gathered together all’
the money and jewelry I could, and the first of September,

1859, deft Buenos Ayres for good ; it was in @ sailing vessel, -
and took months before we reached New Orleans.

It was now over four years since I had left New Orleans,
the second day after the murder of Madam Ford. Ihave often
since wished I had remained in South America with my little
Spanish wife, and though I brought with me over a hundred
thousand dollars in gold and jewels, it was bitt a drop in the

"bucket ; my passion for ca/Js' soon swallowed up the sum I
ha,dp brought from- South /America. I stopped at the St.
CBa‘rles, passing for a rich South American. I remained at -
the hotel for over a year, and preyed upon the guests for my
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support. A chambermfud in the house became my mistress
~as well as aid in robbing ; she would find out the rooms of
the guests who had plenty-of money about, them, then post
‘me, and in the evening come to my réom, brmtrmg ‘the pass-
key. The rest was very easﬂy done; in the morning the
guest awoke minus his money, with a strong odbr of chlore- -
form about the room. It is strange, that all the, tune 1 was
in the house, I was never suspected of bemo' anythmg else
than I'had represented myself. One day Mary—that was
the . chamberma.ld’s name——caught me kissing one of the
other glrll ; & furlous quarrel was the result ‘ wamg now
quite a sum of money, I said good—bye to nobody, and left
for Mobile. :

- As the war was now about to break out between the North
end South, T kept going, until I reached Charleston S.C,
and was there at the firing upon Fort Sumter. Not havmg
amy partiality for either side, and no idea of being an honest
soldier for either party, I entered the Confederate service.
My name on the Confederate muster-roll was Albert Harti-
s3n, While in New Orleans, I passed. as Don Miguel,” the
name of my put&tlv@ father-in-law of South America, -

6.
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own hook, and for my own benefit. After we went into the

field for active service, I was scarcely ever with my regiment,
but got together as soon as possible about twenty reguiar

“cusges,” left the regiment altogether, and went to bush-

whacking, and preyed upon Union and Secesh alike. To tell
how much I stole, how many persons I killed or ‘helped to
kill during the war; would be impossible. I will, however,
mention one. accident that occurred near the close of the
war. Myself and a man went out for a « lark” one night,
- back in the country about ten miles,. stopped at a grand old
plantation to stay all night, representing ourselves as Con-
federate soldiers. We found the- mistress of the place &
regular firoeating Secesh. She was very communicative,

because we belonged to her party ; she told us all her trou-
' bles, how she had disposed of all her plate, jewelry and
money. We were not long making up our minds to take
most of it away; the things were buried in the cellar, to
reach which we had to pass through the room the old lady
slept-in. So about two o'clock we made the venture; the
old lady, feehng so safe because she had Confederate soldiers
in the house, had not locked her bedroot door. We opened
easily, and had got about half-way through the room, when
the old woman awoke, and seeing men in the room, she

screamed ; I sprang upon her, put my hand over her mouth,

bent her head back, and cut her throat, then plunged my
knife into her heart. The noise roused her daughters, and
they came running into the room ; Larkins grabbed one, and
1 the other, and in a few moments we had them silenced ;

thinking both deed, we proceeded to the cellar, and searched
every nook and corner, found the plate and jewelry, but
~only a sma]l sum of money. We took the jewelry, left the

plate where we found it, and left the cellar in disgust; when

we got back to the ol lady’s room, one of the girls was
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gone; we made search for her, and found she had crawled

back to her own room, had got on the bed with her two
little children, and there she lay dying, while the zoor
babies were sobbing and crying as if their hearts would
break; I saw the woman was dying, so' I left her. My
partner. could not leave with all the plate in the cellar, so
he returned with a sack, and brought it up, while I fired the -
house, which I did in five or six places; the fires were so
arranged as to surround the room where the children were,
and thus no escape was left them. We hunted up a box,
put in our “swag,” and as we could not take it to’ camp, we
buried it under a pear-tree in the orchard, and there 1 sup-
pose.it is yet, ag T have néver been for it, and the man who
wag, with me was killed two days afterward in a saloon:
quarrel in Mobile. '

‘T was in Lee’s surrender, and in a short time found myself
in New Orleans, with only a few thousand dollars. I stopped
at the City Hotel, and began the old life of robbing rooms,
was caught, tried, and sentenced for an a.ttemp% at robbery.

I had not got anything from the room I was in, butiwhen
‘my baggage was searched, property that had been stolen

from other rooms in the house was found in my possession;
so I was sent up to Baton Rouge for three years, served' my
time, and when released, went direct to New. York, from
which T had been absent for near fifteen years. I was for-

-gotten by all my former acquamtances, and gladly would I

have forgotten myself, but could not, and therefore plunged
into vice with renewed vigor, and was not long in getting
acquainted with the boys. ‘

My first job amounting to anything of moment here was

~ to fire 63 Liberty Street, for the purpose of drawing together a

crowd, and then pick pockets. In this fire a man, wife and
two children were burnt, a fireman hurt, and ¥ ~uriched my




76 . THE LIFE OF ANSON BUXNKER.

pocket by quite 2 sum. This was in Octobeér, 1869; I now
bad two “pals,” Gipsy Jack and English Bob, About the
first of November we began to mature a plan to rob the
Balston Bank of Boston; Gipsy Jack went to Boston,
assuming the name of Judson, representing himiself a dealer
in wine and bitters from California; when he. had got all
arranged,, 1 and Enghsh Bob went over, and every night
~worked, until we had ‘bored a hole through the wall of the

bank-vault, removing the dirt in our wineboxes. In this

Jjob we were assisted by a policeman, who kept watch for
‘us, and found us a safe place to hide not only the money
but ourselves. By, this job we got over $400,000; there
- were four of us concerned in this work, so we got over a
- hundred thousand each. The paper money was -safely
stored until such times as we dare to set it afloat ;. the gold
was used.
I now took a hasty trip out west as far as Pittsburg H
there I met an old pal; he wanted me to help him do a job.
I did so, and helped him to -rob and kill Dr. Mead of Alle-

~ gheny City in December. He was quite an old man, but T

“never had such a hard job ;fhe seemed to have the strength
of a lion, and fought like a tiger.  While he and my pal
were scuffling, T struck him with a large iron poker, and

with a few blows finished him. ‘"We went to the office, and

- knocked ; the doctor being alone came to the door himself.
Seeing we were genteel-looking strangers, and one of us pre-
tending to have been knocked down and hurt, he asked us
in; the moment the door closed we presented a pistol,

~ordered him to keep quiet, and deliver up his money. He
seemed bewildered, but as he realized the situation he spra,nﬂ'
forward, knocked up the pistol, closed with my pal, and a
scuffle ensued ; at this point I struck him with the poker.

My pal took some of his jewelry ; T said it was best to leave

J
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it, and only take money, as jewelry is always such.a dan-

‘gerous thing to handle, I think he did so; I do not know

Jjust how much he got by this job, but _I think quite a sum;
T did not share in the “swag,” having plenty yet of the bank
affair. The man who put up the job, and helped to rob and.
kill Dr, Mead, was known as Snapping Jake among the fra-
térnity, and with, the first train going west he went to rig
out 85 & ministe*r) ; to look at him none would suspicion he
was otherwise. I stopped at Pittsburg, at the old St. Clair,
but it had changed hands, and my friend Bennett was no
1oﬁger there. I registered my name as John Harrison, cf
Baltimore. |

On the 25th of January I started again for New Yok,
which I reached in due time, and found one of my friends
ready to start on a lay; he insisted I should go with hins.
I will here say that I was looked upon by the “kidney”
with a kind of superstitious awe, from the very fact I never \
had to their knowledge got into trouble, and therefore was.
known among the mystic tie as “Lucky Bill.” When in the |
city, I did not associate with the boys, but stopped, if not-at-
the first-class, still at good hotels, so never became thoroughly -

. spotted by the police, or detectives. I knew a few police in

New York,'and they knew me and my business, but when
they held their hands behind them I filled theim, and nothing
more was said; I greased the palm of one to the tune of
over $10,000 after the robbery of the Balston' Bank.

My friend’s job lay up in the country, so off we started,
and broﬁght up at Poughkeepsie. Here pretending to be sew-
ing-machine agents we visited the house of a farmer by the
name of Thorne : I think he was reported among the boys of "
New York to have a large amount of money about his house.
After getting all our plans Jaid to rob Mr. Thorne, we took
the night train for New York, but before we were three

3
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miles on the way, and as the train was slacking up at a
station, we slipped off at the rear, walked out to Mr.
Thorne’s, found no trouble in effecting an entrance to the

house, but in hunting for the money, aroused Mr. Thorne,

and he came at us. We dared not fire a shot, for fear of

raising the alarm, so I grabbed him by the throat, while my .

pal kept beating and kicking him; thus I held him until he
dropped limp as if dead, and we thought he was, but learned
afterwards he did not die for several days, and after all our
‘trouble we only got a few hundred dollars. | '

After leaving here we walked ten miles to a depoﬁ, and took
the train for Albany ; here my pal went to the home known
to all “foot-pads,” and I to the Delevan House. I gave my
name as Daniel O’Connor, right from Liverpool, hunting up
relatives. One evening about the last of j January, 1 was

hwalkin'g out to keep an appointment with my pal; as I came

up to him, I found him in a tussle with some one, pitched
in, and helped him to finish the job, rifled the pockets, and
~ threw the body into the canal basin. We on-ly got a small
awount by this job.

We were now getting short of funds, and seelng ao chance
for a good job in Albany, went back to _New York. Istopped

at the Lovejoy House, kept very quiet, es they were still

looking sharp after the bank robbers, went out on & lay one
night with another cove, and knocked down a man on East
Twenty-ninth Street, intending to rob him, but got nothing,
and found we had mistaken our rhan, as we were on the
look-out for a Mr. Sweeney, from the Railroad Office on
Broadway. We did not know the man, but the papers socon
“informed us that it was a Mr. Dorman B. Eastman.

Thig was some time in February; T now went over to
~ Philadelphia, and stopped at the American Hotel. Here I

met Gipsy Jack, who had been tramping around through the ‘.
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- country, and who ';&id' he had found a good fat crib, and
easy to crack, at Snowhill, N. J. We went out, and did the °

job, but had to kill the old woman; she fought terribly for
a woman, but we silenced her, yét had to fairly cut her to
pieces to do it.  We then gecured the money, which we found
in an old trunk under the bed. When we had' finished the
job, we changed our clothes, removmg all traces of blood
from ourselvps, put on an entire new rig, which we had along
for that purpose, left our old clothes lying on the floor, with
the rest of our disgnise, set. fire to the-house, and made our
escape. We did not intend to kill the old woman, and jf

she had kept still, we would not; so much for meddling wi+h

other people 8 business.
This was some time near the first of March I n:w
remained quietly in Philadelphia until the last of May, took

a trip once in a while into Maryland totthe Gipsy Farm,

where the proceeds of another branch of our business was
secreted and disposed of, and which is the head-quarters

generally. , This farm is well known to the “fly-cops” as well

as one near Dayton, Ohio. All this time I was doing nothing
but picking & pocket occasionally, and going through a room

at the hotel;, and here let me say I a;lways had- an accom-’

plice in the person of a chamber-maid in the hotels where I
operated, who furnished me the pass-keys to the rooms. I
now began to feel tired of such small game, and determined
on a Iarge lay; 8o I returned to New York to work up-one
that I had long contempla.ted that of the robbery of a retired

. banker, one with whom I had often done business in the

banking line,:and whose acquaintance I had formed in that
way, and one whose confidence I possessed to conmderable
extent. I had often gone to his house to transact business

with him, but more for the purpose of becoming familiar with
the house, and to lay my plans. I had pretended to M. -
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Nathan that I was a connoisseur in diamonds and other
preclous stones, of which Mr. Nathan was very fond, and
* with the peculiarity of his race was hoarding away all he could
get. T knew he had quite a number in his safe in the library
at his private residence at No. 12 West Twenty-Third street,

as well as a' large quantity of money. So I determmed to
rob hirm and leave the country.

I had all my plans matured and proceeded to put them -

into execution on the evemng of the 28th of July. I knew
. workmen were engaged at repairs about the house, and that all
. the family were in the country except the sons, who were not:
“about the house during the day. I went to the house later
in the afternoon, rang the bell and was admitted by the houge-
keeper. I claimed when she opened the door to be o}mlof the:
workmen, and had the very instrument in my hand, though
“wrapped in paper, with which I killed Mr. Nathan. And here
let me say I had no accomplice and no intention of killing
Mr, Nathan. I knew he was out of town, and would be in
that night, and have money which he would put in the safe
at his house. I had rcasoned in this wise, that when he
came into town he would come direct to his house, deposit

his money in the safe, then go out to make his visits; in' his

absence I could compiete my work and leave. Iwas dressed
‘a8 a common laborer. When I first* went in, I went direct
to the garret xoonts, in which I stayed about for some time.
- While there I héfmd men talking and feared they were
coming to the room, but they did not; fearing I would be
seen there T watched my chance and hid in one of. the closets
adjoining the billiard-room, until between sundown and
dark, then went into the closet between Mr. Nathan's bed-
room and the bath-room, in the large wardrobe, and was con-
cealed by the clothes hanging in it. Once T thought T would
."smother, as 7 4ir was so hot and close; heard Mr. Nathan

MYSTERIOUS MURDERS REVEALED. 83

~ come in ; once he opened the closet door but not the wardrobe
"~ door. - W'a.lted pa.tlently thmkmg he would go out, but he
did not; he lighted the gas and turned it very low, then seated
* himself by the window for a long time; a.ft.er a while one of

the sons came m, went out again, then some one else came
in, went up- stalrs and I heard no more of them; then the

housekeeper came in with. a pitcher of 1ce.w§,ter to have had
a drink of which I would have 'givéli much. After the house-
keeper left, Mr. Nathan undressed and, as I thought, was

gomg to bed, but he did not. " He prepared the bed as if to

| lic down, and then sat down by the window. I had opéned'

the closebdoor, and’ was Just going to. Work when I heard
some one come past the llbrary-door and stop, so I hastened

back tomy hldmg place. In afew minutes some one-else came’

move from-hiffseat. 1 waited for at least an hour, though it
an age in Iy hot position; it seemed Mr. Na-

to ‘the dooi@dﬂspoke, ‘the old man answered, but did not

seemed to m
than had fallen asleep in his ¢hair. It was thundering con-
siderable and ‘a storm’ was imminent. I made up my mind to
wait no longer but to do the best I could to rob the safe .a'nd
leave without waking Mr. Nathan, thinking the storm and
thunder would help to drown any noise I might make,

But it appﬂared I had mlscalculated Mr. Nathan’s condition,
for I had only left my posmon, and taken a step or two into .
the bed-room, when he roused up and spoke, asking who was -

there; as I gave no answer, he sprang up and came towerd

the; then for the first time the idee of killing him came to my .

mind. I stepped back a step, with the thought of getting into
my hiding place, but it instantly flashed across my mind
that Mr. Nathan would tvrn up the gas and call help, make
a search, and I would be discovered; so I stopped, and as
soon as he was near encugh struck him, knocked him down

on his back; he whirled over, sprang to his feet, with his®
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back to me, and started for the hbrary door, with the mtentlon, |
I suppose, of calling assistance. I struck him again on the
back of the head with the pomt of the dog; he fell and lay
still, and I ha.stened to close the door of the library leading
1o the hall, which all this time was ajar. When I returned
to. where Mr. Na.tha.n was, he had raised on his hands and
knees, and was crawling toward the window. I struck him
severa.l times as T stood over him; he sunk down dying on
his hands and knees. 1 caught him by the arm, jerked him
'over on his back, and struck him in the face two or three more
times. As I turned him over he caught me by the leg;
when T tried to loose his hand, I found again I was clasped
with the grip of death, and a vision of the little white hand
and the scene on the lake floated by me, and made me shud.
dex;, and again I had to crush and tear & hand almost te
pieces to get it loose from me. ' |
Mr. Nathan was now dead, and had . the house been one
that would have given out a sound, the noise we made could
have been heard a square. My hands were now covered-
-with hlood trying to get Mr. Nathan’s hand loose; I went
to the bath—mom, and washed them, closed the window
shutters tight, turned the gas just hlgh enough to work by,
then proceeded to rifle Mr. Nathan’s pockets, got the keys,
and rifled the safe of its contents. I got $58,000, took two
ya.ckages of papers, and a small tin box containing diamonds
and other valuable stones, set and unset; I then took Mr.
Nathan'’s watch and chain, and three diamond shirt-studs;
both were lying on the table, or I doubt if I had taken
them, After all was over, I sat down and rested; I was 5o
warm and excited that I was afraid to go into the street, for
fear of meeting a policeman, who would notice something
unusual, question and perhaps arrest me. I waited until day-
light began to show in the east, which admonished me it was

3
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time to leave. I had partly opened the shutters to get, air,

and left them so, also left the gas burping Iow, closed the ‘

‘door .of Mr. Nathan’s room wl,{en I left it, went, down to. the
front-door, had some trouble to open it, but ﬁna,lly succeeded
When I had reached the bottom of the front-steps, a news-
boy came around the corner near the hotel; I walkéd back
up the steps, picked up a piece Jf newspaper, went down
again, and to Sixth Avenue. When I left Mr. N athan’s
room, I carried the dog with me to the front-door, with the
intention of braining any one I should meet in the hall. I
met no one; 1laid it down in the hall by \the front-door and

" there left it. T went back up the steps for the purpose of ap-

pearing unconcerned to the boy or any one else who might
happen to sece me. The clothes I had on were daubed with
paint. 1'did not have a dinner bucket as the boy stated, but
I'did have the tin-box of jewels, and a bundle of papers
rilled in a newspaper under my arm; well might any one
tuke me for a laborer going to his work. 1 had heavy black
whiskers over my natural light ones, also a bushy black wig. |
When I reached Sixth Avenue, and out of sight of the Na-
than house, I made rﬁy way to my room on the Bowery. I

~ do not propose to tell what house it was in. I did not board,

tnly had a furnished room ; the people I believe were honest
vnd were 1frn0rant of my movements or character inm 'my
way whatever. When I reached my roem it was sun-up. I

got into my room w1thout being seen by any one about the
house,

I locked my door and proceeded to hide the swag. 1 had
a trank in which I had constructed false ends; in this way
the cross piece, on which the tray rested, rested also on a

- double board in the end; and was held to its place by a spring;
~ a dinmond of  brass-headed nails on the outside of the trunk

had the appearance only of an ornament, but the spring that
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fastened and loosened the bar was in it; no one that exam.
ined the trunk, unless shown the secret, would ewver suspicion
it. Into one end of this I ‘put'the proceeds of the Nathan
murder and robbery, in the other my whiskers and’ wig;
within five minutes after I had entered my room a dozen de-
tectives might have searched my room, and unless they had
cut my trunk to pieces they would have found nothing to .
hang a suspicion upon. All secure I went to bed and slept.
until about 10 o'clock; then got up, went to where I usually
took my meals at a restaurant on Bleecker street, then about
the city for the rest of the day, heard nothing but the Nathan
murder and the theories of it. I now kept perfectly quiet,
and stayed in my room for three weeks and never once,
during all this time, did any one of my “pals” or the police
who knew me show a sign that they suspicioned me of any
complicity in the Nathan murder. ‘

Feelmg now that I could leave the city safely, 1 took
passage on the steamer for California, resolving that never
again would L kill 2 man in cold blood, or in any manner
but self-defence. For till my dying day will I feel and see
that little white hand clinging to mine on the lake, and the -
- clagp of the trembling 'q.uivering hand, around my ankle, of
Mr. Nathan. The little white hand has followed me for
years; 1 have seen and felt it a thousand times, and now it
has a companion around my ankle that shakes me like the
clasps of doom. As yet I had not dared to examine any of
the .papers I had brought from Nathan’s safe, only took
enough money to pay my way decently to California, and I
had yet a large sum of my share of the Balston Bank affair,
"so when I bid farewell to New York I had near $100,000
in the ends of my trunk. I sailed on Saturday from New
York. Without anything worthy of note we reached Califor-
nia, and landed at San Francisco. Ihere tooka furnished room,
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and remained quiet, ex‘.a'.miiiedr the papers and found them

to contain certificates of stock, namely Bank, Railroad ‘and

other stock, Deeds and Mortgagés,’ Notes and Réceipté Some
of the mortgages had not been recorded, as well as two of
the deeds; there was also an old “ wﬂl” of Mr Nathan s,'
made five years before. “ | ‘ v

Feeling those things would never benefit me, I consigned -
them to the flames. I now examined my jewelry box, and
found it very rich in precious stones, each little package
labelled, and stating how, when, and where he had gotten

" them, and who intended for at his death, with their relative
. value, I soLd during the year and a half I remnained in San

Francisco over $20,000 worth of them, and gave away untold

" numbers. The diamonds in the shirt studs I had put into

a new setting of California gold, and wore them. The watch
and chain I dropped into the sea the second night out from
New York, and unless some monster of the deep'sw&llows
it and gets caught the heirs will stand but little chance of '
ever gettmg it. .

1 now began to get wealy of Sa.n Francisco, so I went to
Sucramento City ; did not remain' there Jong; went to Marys-
ville and out to the mines, but still felt restless and uneasy,
s made my way to Salt Laké City, and fraternized-with the
Mormons very: soon, ‘and-was not here long before I learned
tuere was more going. on'in Utah than Polygamy. There T
found my old friend T had last seen in South America, Am-
brose Stoddard, He was an'active member of the Mormon
church, and had his three wives. From him I soon learned
there was more going on in Utah than Polygamy. He told
me that there was a league between the Mormons and most
of the Indian tribes, .extending throughout the’ United
States among a class of people known as Free Lovers. The
object to be attained by the League was the overthrow of
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the U. 8. government. An Indian war was to be inaugurated,
and continued, until it spread far and near; if subdued in

one tribe, arother Was to raise the revolt. They were trying

hard to consolidate the Indians, but there was one unruly
“ ousg,” Capt. Jack, who had a private Complaint of his own
and wanted to begin the fight when and how he pleased.
The understanding between the Indians and the Mormons
was that of protecting each other from further encroach-
ment of the U. 8, but- between the Mormons and the other
party the destruction of the U. 8. government, and the
establishment of the Mormon and Free Love doctrines; but
comparatively few of the latter party know what their
leaders are-aiming at, but when enough are committed to its
doctrinés, they are then to boldly announce their alliance,
" ‘league and co-operation with each other. Spies and allies
from Utah, and also from the States, are all the time out
working among the Indians, and always in the disguise of an
Indian. On such a venture as this I am now going to Cap-
tain Jack, this the 2d day of January, 1873, and from which
_ 1 feel I shall never return alive, as the tightening of the clasp
around my ankle of that ghostly hand warns me that my
days are over, and makes ‘me tremble in every limb at the
thought of meeting at once my victims and my Judge. And
the little white hand ever pointing at me, and looking me
in the face are the wild staring eyes I saw sink beneath the
waters of the lake, and sounding in my ears is that plaintive
voice as it plead for life}lbut now saying, Write! write! and
tell the world the truth. Should I return,~but no; thal;
will never be. ANSON BUNKER.

‘ - 7
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0N THE CHARACTER AND HABITS OF THTEVES

; 'ET I cannot close this imperfect sketch of my life, -
.l without saying a word to my old comrades and thieves
T generally

The old saying, « Honor smong thleves, none better

than ourselves know it is false, in proof of which I will
state that I have been repeatedly robbed by professwna.l
thieves, and those too who knew that I was of the same .

trade. 1 could give many instances of thieves stealing from
wsach other, but will only mention three in my own case.
I was robbed, while going down the Mississippi river, of

the diamonds and jewelry that I had taken from the old

Southerner, at the burning of the Pacific Hotel, St. Louis,
Mo. The parties who stole that jewelry well knew I was a

. thief, and that I had stolen them; so would not dare to.

claim them, should I see it in their possession. Then
again, while I was on a visit to the farm in Maryland, the
thief’s home, with none around me but professional thieves, .
all my money was taken by one of them, who well knew
who and what I was. Again in California, while keeping

 quiet after the Nathan murder, two of the craft had rooms.

in the same house with me; so they one night entered my
room in my absence, and took all they could lay their hands
upon of value, and among other things they carried off a
bandle of papers, and some of the jewelry I had taken from
Nathan'’s safe. 'What all the papers were I knew not, as I
had not thoroughly examined them, for just as I was about
to do 50 I was interrupted by one of the party coming into

e
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my room. I laid the package back into the tray of my

trunk, in which was also a few of the diamonds and some

other pieces of Jewelry I had got in the Nathan * mansion,

I went to the theatre that night and forgot to put the things

back into the secret receptacle in the trdnk; when I returned

-Ifound the trunk had been opened and the package and
Jewelry gone. Fora while I was considerably alarmed for fear
there would be trouble following, but I never heard of them,
~ 80 know not what became of them. Of ‘the Nathan property
they got one topaz, four large diamonds, one émerald, a pack-
age of papers and two small memorandum or account books.
. One of the men who took those things from me was a well-
knowl thief in Néw York city and vicinity, and it may be
well for him if he destroys those things before he returns to
the States, or he may get into trouble for the Nathan murder,
- Though I say there is no honor among th1eves, and that
they often rob each other, yet 1 have never stolen a dollar
from one T knew to be a thief,

It seems though that once a man has become a thief he is
lost to all sense of honor or truth, and works with a zeal
worthy of a better cause to drag all they can by any means
tn their level. The thief never commits a robbery that

-F¢ does not boast he gets five times as much. as he really '

does, and even when he makes what he calls a good haul it
does him no good; he is always penniless within a week but
oftener in twenty-four hours after his richest « grab.” As
soon as he has a dollar in his pockets he flies to the gamb-
ling hell, and is in his tarn rebbed by those who well know
who and what he is; then he boasts of the rich cribs he has
cracked, the large hauls he has made and how sumptuously
he fares, and that too in the presence of those who have but
recently. started on a career of crime, and who would if they
knew all the truth gladly return to the path of Lonesty, and
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would, but for the boasting lies of the old professional thief
which lure him on and on, following a phantom until he

_ends in perdition. Thus the thief does a threefold wrong:

he steals, he lies, and he betrays. If the thieves would only

- tell the truth and be honest among themselves, thousands

that end their days in prison, and too often on the gallows,
would be saved ; did they but picture truthfully the miserable
vagabondish, penniless life of the professional thief to the’
new beginner in ¢rime, the bravest of them would turn back
while they could, but they ngver do this, but on the contrary
wilfully and mahcmusly.,_mlslead ‘their fellow-man, and drag
him down to endless misery; and one of the most staunch
allies of the thief in dragging down the young and innocent
to endless misery and ruin is the rum-shop, and when I say
I know that two-thirds of ‘all the rum-shops, saloons, or by
whatever name they may be called, are kept by professional

‘thieves, when I éa}y this I speak the truth. This they do for

two reasons; first to rob men of their momey; second to sup-
ply the ranks of crime with victims. I have known meny
a young man who was an honest mechanic, when he has got
his wages on Saturday evening go- ‘into one of those gin
palaces, get what he supposed was a pure glass of ale, but, in-
stead get a cup of liquid fire steeped over the flames of hell
and sweetened with the drugs of doom, prepared and given

~ by the fiend behind the bar, expressly for the unwary.

Then while under the influence of this subtle poison, which
runs through his veins lilce molten lead, making him- fuor the
time insane, in this condition he i is taken charge of by one of
those boasting, lying thleves, and ere he is aware of the
dangerous road he is tra.vel’img he is sunk beyond rescue.

This is a daily occurrence with, hundreds of young men and
women too in all large cities, and the more Whmkey that is

drunk the more cmmmals graduate.
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Aga.ln 1 assert, never prate of honor among thieves: a
falser agsertion was never made, and I never hear it repeated
but it makes my blood run cold. " I know well what it is
worth; it is like the boast of their grea.t gaing, 8 lie from the
beginnming to end, and though I have committed hurdreds of
robberies and oftén got large sums thereby, I 1:153\79:}1‘~ obtained
one dollar by theft or crime in any way that did me any
good, but on the contrary brought with it a eurse not only

© tc myself, but to all others I supphed with those 1ll-gotten

a.mst_ As a result to-day I am ‘siot“ only a beggar, an out-
law, accursed of God alone with nelther kith nor kin in all
the world, but the most mlserable wregtch ot earth. I have
all my life, but
that few dollars did me more good and _br})ﬁght fné‘mqre

happiness than all the thousands I have got by crime.

All the happiness that stolen.’ money brings. never pays the
thousandth part of a cent of the misery it entails; and oh,
young man or woman, you who have just starbed on the

downward road tc ruin; no matter how ﬁattermg the pros- -

pect, or how brightly the picture of the thief’s life is painted,
believe it not, it is a lie, and those who tell it know it is a
lie. The eriminalis always a penniless vagabond forced to go

skulking through the by-ways, hiding like rats in the dark

holes and corners, scarcely daring to *show themselves, and
walk upright in the ncon-day sun. '

But of .all the humbugs romancingly connected with the
rogue’s life, that of “Honor among thieves” is certa.ihly the

greatest. | . ‘ R A. B
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IRTKCTIVE GORDONS CLOSING RENARKS,

gHE foregoing manuseript I have given the public in ite
: original entirety. That Anson Bunker was very illiter-
-ate the manuscript pla.m]y shows, but with the exception of
mlsspelled words, and some altoo'ethi: unpardonable gram-

matical errors, I have made no correctjons.

| We have thus raised the curtain upon some mysterious
tragedies, among others that of the Nathan murder, and all

is now clear where once existed impenetrable darkness.

&

- THE END.
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